
  

 
 

 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE & CITY OF NOTTINGHAM FIRE & RESCUE  AUTHORITY  

 

POLICY AND STRATEGY COMMITTEE 

 
Date: Friday, 12 July 2019 Time:  10.00 am 
 
Venue: Fire and Rescue Services HQ, Bestwood Lodge, Arnold Nottingham NG5 8PD 
 
Members are requested to attend the above meeting to be held at the time, place and 
date mentioned to transact the following business 

 
Clerk to the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority 
 

AGENDA 
 

 Pages 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 

3  MINUTES  
Of the meeting held on 1 February 2019 (for confirmation). 
 

3 - 4 

4  SHAPING OUR FUTURE 'ORGANISATIONAL HEALTH' UPDATE 2019  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

5 - 10 

5  LOCAL FIREFIGHTER PENSION ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

11 - 30 

6  COLLABORATION UPDATE  
Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 

31 - 36 

7  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
To consider excluding the public from the meeting during consideration 
of the remaining items in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the basis that, having regard to all the 
circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



8  EXEMPT MINUTES  
Of the meeting held on 1 February 2019 (for confirmation). 
 

37 - 40 

 
 
 
ANY COUNCILLOR WHO IS UNABLE TO ATTEND THE MEETING AND WISHES TO 
SUBMIT APOLOGIES SHOULD DO SO VIA THE PERSONAL ASSISTANT TO THE CHIEF 
FIRE OFFICER AT FIRE SERVICES HEADQUARTERS ON 0115 967 0880 
 
IF YOU NEED ANY ADVICE ON DECLARING AN INTEREST IN ANY ITEM ABOVE, 
PLEASE CONTACT THE CONSTITUTIONAL SERVICES OFFICER SHOWN ON THIS 
AGENDA, IF POSSIBLE BEFORE THE DAY OF THE MEETING.  
 
Constitutional Services Officer:  Cath Ziane-Pryor  
 0115 8764298 
 catherine.pryor@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 

 
 

Agenda, reports and minutes for all public meetings can be viewed online at:- 
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=219&Year=0 

 

If you would like British Sign Language interpretation at the meeting, please contact the 
Service at least 2 weeks in advance to book this, either by emailing enquiries@notts-

fire.gov.uk or by text on SMS: 0115 824 0400 
 

 

mailto:enquiries@notts-fire.gov.uk
mailto:enquiries@notts-fire.gov.uk


1 

 

 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF NOTTINGHAM FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
POLICY & STRATEGY COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held at Fire and Rescue Services HQ, Bestwood Lodge, 
Arnold Nottingham NG5 8PD on 1 February 2019 from 10.00 am - 10.23 am 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Brian Grocock (Chair) 
Councillor Michael Payne 
Councillor Jonathan Wheeler 
Councillor Malcolm Wood 
Councillor Sybil Fielding 
 

Councillor Andrew Brown 
 

Councillor Vaughan Hopewell (Substitute for Councillor Andrew Brown) 
 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
John Buckley - Chief Fire Officer 
Craig Parkin - Assistant Chief Fire Officer 
Malcolm Townroe - Clerk and Monitoring Officer 
Becky Smeathers - Head of Finance 
Catherine Ziane-Pryor - Governance Officer 
 
 
19  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Councillor Andrew Brown – personal (Councillor Vaughan Hopewell substituting). 
 
20  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
21  MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 November 2018 were confirmed as a true record 
and signed by the Chair. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Nottinghamshire & City of Nottingham Fire & Rescue  Authority - Policy & Strategy - 1.02.19 

2 

 
22  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

 
RESOLVED to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the 
remaining items in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972 on the basis that, having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 
 
23  PRINCE'S TRUST UPDATE 

 
John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which provides the Committee with an 
update on the Service’s work with the Prince’s Trust. 
 
RESOLVED to approve a revised Option 2 as outlined in the report.   
 

Page 4



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
Policy and Strategy Committee 
 

SHAPING OUR FUTURE 
‘ORGANISATIONAL HEALTH’ 
UPDATE 2019 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer  
 
 
 
 
 

  
Date:  12 July 2019 
  
Purpose of Report: 
 
 
To update Members on organisational development and inclusion activities taking 
place within the organisation. 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
Craig Parkin 
Deputy Chief Fire Officer 

Tel : 0115 8388100 

Email : 
craig.parkin@notts-fire.gov.uk 
 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Therese Easom 
(0115) 967 0880  therese.easom@notts-fire.gov.uk 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

1. BACKGROUND 

 
In 2016, it was agreed that the Human Resources Committee would receive 
performance updates on workforce and recruitment data via an Equalities Monitoring 
report and the Policy and Strategy Committee would receive a more narrative-based 
report on the organisational development and inclusion activity taking place across 
the organisation. The last report of this type was presented to this committee in July 
2018.  
 

2. REPORT 

 
2.1 During the last 12 months, Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS) 

has made further progress in moving forward the workstreams set out in the 
Service’s Organisational Development and Inclusion Strategy. This paper 
seeks to provide Members with an update on progress and appraise them of 
future objectives. Key priorities during the last year have centred on leadership 
and development, diversity, employee engagement and collaboration.  
 

2.2 The Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) has three key areas which they focus 
on in order to ensure that the organisation maintains high levels of 
commitment and prioritises work in the appropriate way, and which underpin 
strategic priorities. These three areas are:  
 

 An engaged and motivated workforce; 

 High quality services; 

 Good governance and financial responsibility. 
 

LEADERSHIP AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

2.3 The second cohort of the Aspiring Leaders Programme started in February 
2019 and is aimed at those who are considering their first management role. 
The 20 participants have access to e-learning, face to face workshops, a 
coach or mentor and guidance to prepare for future promotion opportunities.  
 

2.4 A new ILM Level 3 Certificate has also been implemented for those recently 
promoted from Crew Manager to Watch Manager, as part of their development 
programme. This will be complemented by a supervisory manager programme 
for recently promoted Crew Managers and those in support roles, which will 
provide a suite of workshops and training courses to provide a comprehensive 
18-month introduction to management. The programme is provided in-house 
and more courses are planned over the next 12 months.    
 

2.5 Access to 360-degree feedback for middle and senior leaders continues to be 
rolled out, with another two cohorts taking place since the last report to Policy 
and Strategy Committee. This feedback enables managers to complete a self-
assessment and receive feedback about their management skills and styles 

Page 6



from their teams, peers and line manager. This leads to a 1:1 feedback 
session and action plan for the manager to support personal development.  
 

2.6 Embedding a coaching culture remains a central part of the Service’s 
approach to developing individuals, teams and the organisation as a whole. 
NFRS has undertaken formal coaching and mentoring training for operational 
firefighter station-based mentors for the first time and has also rolled out a new 
‘Off-Station Support’ initiative for new firefighters. This initiative was borne out 
of a ‘Little Acorn’ staff suggestion and is a buddying scheme enabling new 
firefighters to contact someone outside of their team during their induction 
period for advice and support.  
 

2.7 Since its inception, the ‘Little Acorns’ staff suggestion scheme has received 
over 300 suggestions.  These have encompassed a wide range of themes, 
and have led to using NFRS vehicles more creatively to advertise services and 
key messages, ending the use of ‘single-use’ plastic cups, the off-station 
support buddying scheme, as well as a range of suggestions regarding 
operations, equipment and estates.  

   
DIVERSE WORKFORCE 

 
2.8 As previously reported to the Human Resources Committee in November last 

year, 2018’s wholetime firefighter campaign was hugely successful in terms of 
the diversity of the successful applicants. The package of positive action 
measures used, and the recruitment process itself will be used as a model for 
recruitment processes in the future. Of the 37 new apprentice firefighters 
recruited, 13 are women and 8 are from BAME backgrounds. Two initial 
training programmes have now been completed with all the recruits 
successfully completing the course and being deployed to stations in 
operational roles. A further initial training course will commence in September 
2019.  
 

LGBT+ Equality - Stonewall 
 

2.9 The Service was successful in re-entering the Stonewall Top 100 Employer 
status this year and continues to work hard to promote LGBT+ equality both 
internally and with partners. The Service is pausing its Stonewall membership 
for 12 months in order to concentrate its efforts on the broader equality, 
diversity and inclusion agenda, as well as developing closer links with the 
Prevention and Protection agenda at NFRS. 
 

British Sign Language (BSL) Charter 
 

2.10 In September 2018, the Service signed the Charter alongside Derbyshire and 
Leicestershire fire and rescue services. Since then the organisation has been 
working alongside the British Deaf Association and its regional partners to 
improve services for Deaf people and those with hearing difficulties. Members 
of the Prevention team, ambulance and fire crews recently participated in a 
road traffic collision exercise with Deaf service users to examine the 
challenges arising in such circumstances. 

Page 7



 
2.11 A new webpage for people with Hearing Difficulties has gone live which 

includes a video clip demonstrating the steps to follow when registering for the 
999 SMS texting service.  
 

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT 
 

Staff Survey 2018 
 
2.12 Following the Service’s Staff Survey in 2018, further staff engagement events 

took place to discuss the action plan to address key issues raised. This was 
finalised in December 2018 and work is ongoing to make the improvements 
highlighted by the survey and to respond to those issues raised by employees.  
 

Spring Conferences  
 
2.13 Another successful round of Spring Conferences took place during May. This 

year saw 247 people attend across the four conferences, and a change to the 
format which saw the afternoon session broken into three shorter workshops 
focusing on the Service’s mental health and wellbeing provision, an insight 
into Fire Investigation and Business Safety and sessions from external 
speakers. 
 

2.14 Feedback from the conference has been largely positive, with over 80% who 
filled out the post-conference survey saying that they felt more informed about 
the way in which the organisation is moving forward and 90% stating that they 
felt more informed about the health and wellbeing support available at NFRS.  

 
2.15 The new format, which was developed following feedback from previous 

conferences, was also well received with many highlighting the afternoon 
workshops as a welcome addition to the programme this year. Participants 
also attended the ‘Ask SLT’ segment of the conference which generated a 
range of questions from the floor on a variety of topics. The digital employee 
engagement tool, Slido, was also used again this year enabling staff to ask 
questions or make comments anonymously if they wanted to.  

 
Internal Communication 

 
2.16 Staff engagement and surveys have historically highlighted communication as 

a challenge within the Service. Within the last 12 months more Middle 
Manager briefings have taken place. The Strategic Leadership Team has also 
visited fire stations to discuss the recently launched Strategic Plan and to 
communicate the Service priorities as well as listen to views from staff. 
Communication was highlighted by employees as an issue in the Staff Survey 
2018 and so this will remain a key priority going forwards. 
  

Collaboration 
 

2.17 The Service continues to collaborate with partners across a range of 
workstreams. A significant programme of work is underway to develop a Joint 

Page 8

https://www.notts-fire.gov.uk/YourSafety/Pages/Hearing-Difficulties.aspx


Fire and Police Headquarters (JHQ), with jointly managed projects initiated 
across a range of areas, including Estates, Technology, People, Prevention, 
Communications and Finance, overseen by a JHQ Joint Programme Board.  
 

2.18 Subject to planning consent, this will result in the planned construction of an 
extension to the existing Sherwood Lodge site and Fire Service staff 
transferring to the new and existing buildings on this site in the autumn of 
2021. The employee engagement element of this work started on 12 June 
2019 with a ‘Starting the Conversation’ joint staff conference, which was well 
received by those attending and is the first of further joint engagement events. 

 
2.19 A collaboration project to develop a Joint Control room with Derbyshire Fire 

and Rescue has been delivered, with the new joint control room going live on 
1 July 2019. The two services have worked closely over the last year to 
ensure a smooth transition, dealing with complex service delivery, technical, 
people and legal issues to deliver an effective and efficient emergency call 
handling and mobilising provision for the residents of Nottinghamshire and 
Derbyshire.  

 
NEXT STEPS 

 
2.20 The Organisational Development and Inclusion Strategy is aligned to the 

Sustainability Strategy adopted in 2014, and “Shaping our Future to 2020” 
change programme, which are now in their final year of delivery.  The 
implementation of the Strategic Plan 2019-22 and challenges arising from the 
recent HMICFRS report will now become the focus for organisational 
improvement, and work will be undertaken to refresh the Organisational 
Development and Inclusion Strategy to align it with these strategic objectives 
and support an implementation programme. 

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
Human resources and learning and development implications for the workstreams 
outlined above are addressed by the owners of each project, workstream or initiative.  
 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this is not a policy, 
function or service. This report is a part of the agreed reporting arrangements for 
equalities activities. 
 

Page 9



6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.  
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
Some of the work described above will help the organisation to meet its obligations 
held within the Public Sector Equality Duty of the Equality Act (2010) 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no risk management implications arising from this report.  
 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
Some of the organisation’s collaboration workstreams have been highlighted within 
the report.  
 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members:  
 
10.1 Note the progress made in the organisational development and inclusion 

agenda. 
 
10.2 Continue to receive the ‘organisational health’ overview annually.  
 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

Page 10



 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
Policy and Strategy Committee 
 

LOCAL FIREFIGHTER PENSION 
ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
 

Date:   12 July 2019 

  
Purpose of Report:  
 
To report to Members on the activities of the Local Firefighter Pension Board and 
Scheme Manager up to 31 March 2019.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name : 
Becky Smeathers 
Head of Finance  

Tel : 0115 967 0880 

Email : becky.smeathers@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Therese Easom 
(0115) 967 0880  therese.easom@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



 
 

 

1.     BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 The Public Service Pensions Act 2013 introduced a framework for 
the governance and administration of public service pension 
schemes, including those pension schemes for fire and rescue 
workers.  The governance arrangements in place for this Authority’s 
firefighter’s pension scheme are attached at Appendix A. The Act 
included the requirement for a Local Pension Board to be established 
by each responsible Authority. 

 
1.2 In April 2015, this Committee approved the creation of a Local 

Pension Board in respect of the firefighter pension schemes, in 
accordance with the requirements of the Public Services Pensions 
Act 2013 (the Act). This Board is known as the Local Firefighter 
Pension Board and has been operating ever since.   

 
1.3 The Fire Authority is the Scheme Manager for the firefighter pension 

schemes, which is a role defined by the Act. The role of Scheme 
Manager is delegated to the Head of Finance post and this report 
therefore serves to communicate to the Fire Authority about the 
activities of the Head of Finance and of the Local Firefighter Pension 
Board to date. 

 

2 REPORT 

 
CONSTITUTION 
 
2.1 A constitution for the Local Firefighter Pension Board was approved by 

the Policy and Strategy Committee at the time that the Board was 
created. Since then the Local Firefighter Pension Board has approved a 
number of changes to the Constitution which can be summarised as: 

 
2.1.1 The addition of two substitute Board members, to help ensure that 

a quorum can be achieved at each meeting and also to support 
succession planning. 

 
2.1.2 The opening of Board meetings to the public, and the separation 

of the agenda into part one for all non-confidential items, and part 
two for confidential items after the public have left the meeting. 
This is to promote transparency and assist with the 
communication of pension matters to scheme members. 

 
2.1.3 Clarification of the relationship between the Board and the 

national Scheme Advisory Board and the need to keep the Fire 
Authority informed of any new requirements of it. 

 
2.1.4 The increase of quorate membership from two members to four 

members, two scheme member representatives and two employer 
representatives, in order to comply with the Firefighters’ Pension 
Scheme Regulations. 

 

Page 12



 
 

 

 
FORMAT OF MEETINGS 
 
2.2 A minimum of three meetings are held per year. Meetings are publicly 

advertised on the Authority’s website.  There have been no members of 
the public attending meetings to date. The meeting agenda and papers, 
together with the minutes of the previous meeting, are published on the 
Authority’s website one week prior to the meeting date. 

 
2.3 Board members are required to declare any potential conflicts of interest 

to the Scheme Manager prior to each meeting, in line with the Local 
Firefighter Pension Board’s Conflicts of Interest Policy. 

 
2.4 At the end of each meeting there is usually a training session for Board 

members on an aspect of pensions. 
 
2.5 Minutes are taken at all meetings. 
 
BOARD MEMBERSHIP 
 
2.6 As set out in the constitution, there is an equal number of employer and 

employee representatives on the Board and there is now also one 
substitute member for each side. Substitute members are encouraged to 
attend meetings as observers, and they are able to act as Board 
members in the absence of one of the full members. Substitute members 
are also invited to attend training sessions and this helps to improve 
knowledge and understanding of pensions issues. 

 
2.7 The Chair of the Local Firefighter Pension Board is currently a 

representative from the employer side. The requirement to rotate the 
appointment of Chair is set out in the constitution (Appendix B).  

 
2.8 There are currently no vacancies on the Board following an appointment 

to the vacant post of the substitute employer representative. 
 
TRAINING 
 
2.9 The Pensions Regulator has published a Code of Practice for the 

governance and administration of public service pension schemes and 
this code sets out the requirement for Board members to achieve and 
maintain knowledge and understanding sufficient to enable them to carry 
out the role of Board member. 

 
2.10 There have been a number of training sessions delivered to the Board, 

including: regional training presented by the LGA’s fire pensions adviser; 
the opportunity to attend the annual LGA Fire Pensions Conference; 
regional training; training presented by the Authority’s pension 
administrator and training at each Board meeting.  There is online 
training available on the Pension Regulator website which members of 
the Board are encouraged to complete. 

 

Page 13



 
 

 

2.11 Each Board member has completed a training needs analysis and the 
Board has a Training Policy. A record of all training is maintained by the 
Scheme Manager.  

 
BOARD ACTIVITY 
 
2.12 Since the Local Firefighter Pension Board was set up in 2015, the work 

of the Board has been shaped by the Board members and by Officers 
supporting the Board.  

 
2.13 Some regular reports to the Board have been developed and these are: 
 

2.13.1 A report entitled “Current Pensions Issues” which provides the 
Board with the latest information on areas of significant pension 
work, and includes both local and national issues. As well as 
enhancing the knowledge and understanding of Board members, 
this regular report serves to prompt discussion at the Board about 
the impact of issues on pension scheme members and about how 
workloads are being managed. This helps to achieve the Board’s 
purpose of securing effective governance and administration; 

 
2.13.2 A report on the pension fund financial position at the end of the 

year is presented to the next Board meeting following the financial 
year end, and this gives the Board the financial context for the 
pension schemes; 

 
2.13.3 A report presented to each meeting on the Firefighters’ Pension 

Risk Register.  The risk register is reviewed regularly by the 
Scheme Manager and is presented to the Board at each meeting, 
with any amendments highlighted. This allows the Board to keep 
track of the key risks and the control measures designed to 
manage those risks. 

 
2.13.4 From March 2019 a new report from the Pension Administration 

Team has been included as one of the regular reports.  Its 
purpose is to provide details to the Board on regulation changes, 
system updates, key performance information relating to the 
performance of the administration team and metric data relating to 
membership numbers of the firefighters’ pension schemes. 

 
2.14 From the outset it has been the aim to set up a joint Pension Board 

with Leicestershire and Derbyshire Fire Authorities. Fire Authority 
approval was initially gained for this to happen but it would have also 
required the approval of the Secretary of State, and this could not be 
gained within the required time scales.  The existing interim Board 
was consequently set up.  At its meeting on 15 December 2017, Fire 
Authority approved the creation of an East Midlands Joint Pension 
Board and a joint request has been submitted to the Secretary of 
State to gain approval for the creation of this Board. 

 
2.15 Other areas of governance which have been discussed at Board 

meetings include: 
 

Page 14



 
 

 

2.15.1 Employer discretions under the firefighter pension schemes. 
Discretions are presented to the Board for information, and the 
process by which Officers make decisions about discretions has 
been explained.  There were no discretions during 2018/19. 

 
2.15.2 In order to keep abreast of national pension issues, the Board has 

set up a register of breaches of the Pension Act 2013.  The 
register provides details of all breaches and also areas of concern 
that have been considered but not felt to breach the regulations.  
There have been no breaches during 2018/19. 

 
2.15.3 The Board is being kept up to date regarding the outcome of the 

Employment Tribunal case relating to the transition arrangements 
into the 2015 Firefighters’ Pension Scheme.  These were judged 
to be discriminatory on the grounds of age.  The Government has 
been refused permission to appeal against the decision by the 
Supreme Court and the details in terms of remedy are awaited. 

 
2.15.4 The Board continues to monitor the impact of the 2016 valuation 

of the firefighters’ pension schemes.  Revised employer 
superannuation rates were announced in March 2019 which were 
a significant increase on the rates previously in place, and have 
placed an increased financial burden on the Authority.  The 
valuation also resulted in some proposed amendments to the 
employee benefits but their implementation has been suspended 
pending the outcome of the Government’s appeal against the 
transitional arrangements to the 2015 scheme. 

  
2.15.5 Internal Audit undertook an audit on the governance 

arrangements for the firefighter’s pension scheme towards the end 
of the financial year.  The audit judged the governance 
arrangements to provide a substantial level of assurance.  The 
audit is attached at Appendix C. 

 
2.16 The Local Firefighter Pension Board is now well established and has 

made good progress in improving the knowledge and understanding of 
the Board about pension issues, and in ensuring that governance and 
administration of pensions is carried out effectively. Work has also been 
undertaken to communicate with pension scheme members about 
pension issues and to raise the profile of this important subject. The 
Board will continue to ensure that good practice is maintained and 
ongoing improvements are made in line with advice from the Scheme 
Advisory Board and The Pension Regulator. 

 
SCHEME MANAGER ACTIVITY 
  
2.17 The governance arrangements for the Firefighter Pension Scheme 

(Appendix A) have been reviewed by the Scheme Manager and 
remain current and up to date.  The role of the Scheme Manager is 
set out in Section 3 of the appendix. 

 
2.18 Much of the role of the Scheme Manager relates to ensuring that 

proper administrational and governance arrangements are in place.  

Page 15



 
 

 

The effectiveness of current procedures is demonstrated by the 
Governance Audit (Appendix A) and the Pension Audit undertaken in 
May 2017, both of which were judged to provide substantial 
assurance. 

 
2.19 Some of the Scheme Manger activity is undertaken by the Scheme 

Administrators (Leicestershire County Council).  In May 2018, the 
Leicestershire County Council internal audit team undertook an audit 
on behalf of the three Fire Services it administers.  The audit 
considered the validity and accuracy of payments and calculations.  
Again, the audit substantial assurance that correct procedures were 
in place. 

 
2.20 The scheme manager has responded to statutory and not statutory 

requests for information, including national surveys of the firefighter’s 
pension scheme by both The Pension Regulator and the Local 
Government Association.  The results of these surveys are reviewed 
and provide the basis for making any necessary improvements.  An 
example of this is the identification of cyber risk. This has now been 
added to the pensions risk register and is monitored on an ongoing 
basis. 

 
2.21 Both the scheme manager and Human Resources advisor to the 

pension board have attended a number of local and national events 
to ensure that their knowledge and understanding remain up to date.  

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 The training of Board members is largely carried out in house at no direct 

cost, and national events such as the LGA conference have been free of 
charge so far. Where Board members are required to travel to attend 
training events this cost is contained within existing budgets. 

 
3.2 The Authority continues to pay a levy to the Scheme Advisory Board and 

this will cover the cost of the national fire pensions technical advisor post 
and support the work of the SAB. The aim of the SAB in setting this levy is 
to help fire authorities to achieve cost savings by producing guidance and 
communications centrally for authorities to share. The cost in 2019/20 will 
be in the region of £5,100 and this has been provided for within the revenue 
budget. 

 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS  

 
There are no human resources or learning and development implications 
arising directly from this report. The members of the Board are required to 
achieve and maintain knowledge and understanding of pensions and this 
requirement is being managed and monitored by the Scheme Manager. 

Page 16



 
 

 

 

5. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this report is not 
associated with a policy, function or service. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 
There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
The Local Firefighter Pension Board was created to fulfil the requirements of the 
Public Service Pensions Act 2013. 
 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
The risks associated with pension governance and administration are set out in 
the Board’s risk register, which is actively managed by the Scheme Manager and 
monitored by the Board. 
 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 Nottinghamshire, Leicestershire and Derbyshire Fire Authorities all share 

the same pension administrator and this has allowed for a number of 
collaborative activities associated with pensions. There have been several 
regional training events for Local Pension Boards and information events for 
firefighters.  More are planned for the coming year. In addition, Officers from 
the Finance and Human Resources Departments attend quarterly regional 
pension administration meetings to keep up to date with pension issues and 
to share good practice. 

 
9.2 Progress is being made on developing a Joint Board for the three 

authorities as detailed in the report. 
 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members note the contents of this report. 
 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN 
PUBLISHED DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
John Buckley 
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

Page 17



 
 

 

 
APPENDIX A 

 
NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY OF 

NOTTINGHAM FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 
 

Governance Arrangements for Firefighter Pensions 
 

Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this document is to set out the governance arrangements 

relating to all aspects of firefighter pensions. This document forms part of 
the overall corporate governance framework for the Authority. 

 
1.2 The various firefighter pension schemes fall within the remit of the Public 

Service Pensions Act 2013. The Pensions Regulator has produced a code 
of practice for the governance and administration of public service pension 
schemes and this document is based upon the recommendations in this 
code of practice.  

 
Overview of Roles and Definitions 
 
2.1 The Public Service Pensions Act 2013 identifies a number of roles in 

relation to public service pension schemes. These are explained below and 
interpreted in the context of the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority: 

 
 2.1.1 Responsible Authority. The responsible authority has the power to 

make pension scheme regulations. The Act identifies Secretaries of State 
as responsible authorities, so for the firefighter schemes this would be the 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government. 

 
 2.1.2 Scheme Manager. For locally administered schemes such as the 

firefighter schemes the scheme manager may be the local administering 
authority or a person representing an Authority. The Combined Fire 
Authority is therefore deemed to be the Scheme Manager, with the day to 
day responsibilities of the Scheme Manager delegated to the Head of 
Finance. 

 
 2.1.3 Pension Board. The Local Pension Board is responsible for 

assisting the Scheme Manager to comply with the scheme regulations and 
other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the 
firefighter schemes. Scheme regulations and the Scheme Manager will 
determine what the Pension Board’s role and responsibilities will be and for 
this Authority these are set out in the Constitution of the Local Pension 
Board. 

 
 2.1.4 Scheme Advisory Board. Each defined benefit public service 

pension scheme set up under section 1 of the 2013 Act has a Scheme 
Advisory Board with responsibility for providing advice to the Responsible 
Authority on the desirability of changes to the scheme when requested to 
do so. The Department for Housing  Communities and Local Government 

Page 18



 
 

 

has set up a Scheme Advisory Board for the Firefighter Pension Scheme 
2015. 

 
2.2 Other roles which are not necessarily defined by the Act, but which are 

relevant to firefighter pension schemes are: 
 
 2.2.1 Employer. The employer is the Combined Fire Authority, with day to 

day employer responsibilities delegated to the Chief Fire Officer. 
 
 2.2.2 Scheme Administrator. This role deals with day to day pension 

administration of firefighter pensions including the keeping of pension 
records and the calculation of pension benefits. This function is outsourced, 
currently to Leicestershire County Council. 

 
 2.2.3 Scheme Advisers. Advisers and service providers can help those 

governing and administering schemes to make informed decisions. In 
practice a range of people and bodies act as Scheme Advisers including 
the Scheme Administrator, the Chief Fire Officer and other Officers within 
the Service, the Local Government Association, the Scheme Advisory 
Board and the Department for Communities and Local Government. 

 
Roles and Responsibilities 
 
Scheme Manager: 
 
3.1 The Scheme Manager is responsible for providing certain information, 

including: 
 

 Annual benefits information to scheme members 

 Certain information to scheme members (and others in certain 
circumstances) on request including: basic scheme information, 
significant changes to schemes, information about future benefits 

 
3.2 The Scheme Manager is responsible for publishing information about the 

Local Pension Board, including who the board members are, representation 
on the board, matters for which the board is responsible, terms of 
reference, the appointment process, the employment and job title and any 
other relevant position held by board members, any specific responsibilities 
of board members. Consideration should be given to publishing Local 
Pension Board agendas, papers and minutes. 

 
3.3 The Scheme Manager is responsible for publishing any other specific 

information as directed by the Responsible Authority or other Government 
department. 

 
3.4 The Scheme Manager is responsible for keeping records of member and 

beneficiary information and transactions. The Scheme Manager is 
responsible for ensuring that record keeping processes are effective, that 
member data is regularly reviewed and evaluated and that data is held for 
an appropriate length of time. In practice certain records are held by the 
Service and others are held by the Scheme Administrator. 

 

Page 19



 
 

 

3.5 The Scheme Manager is responsible for arranging Local Pension Board 
meetings in accordance with the constitution for the Local Pension Board. 
This will include preparing agendas and ensuring that reports are provided 
to board meetings as required. 

 
3.6 The Scheme Manager is responsible for keeping records of pension board 

meetings and decisions. This must include the date, time and place of the 
meeting; the names of all pension board members invited to the meeting; 
the name of any person attending and in what capacity; the minutes of the 
meeting and any decisions made at the meeting. 

 
3.7 The Scheme Manager is responsible for ensuring that pension board 

members do not have conflicts of interest and for managing any potential 
conflicts of interest. 

 
3.8 The Scheme Manager is responsible for establishing and operating 

adequate internal controls to manage risks relating to the schemes. This will 
include having a process to identify, evaluate and manage risks as well as 
monitor controls. 

 
3.9 The Scheme Manager is responsible for ensuring that pension contributions 

are paid into schemes on time and in full. This will include having a process 
to monitor payments and identify and resolve contribution payment failures. 
The Scheme manager must report significant contribution payment failures 
to the Pensions Regulator within 10 working days. 

 
3.10 The Scheme Manager is responsible for making and implementing 

arrangements which comply with legal requirements for resolving internal 
disputes with members and others, and for regularly checking that the 
arrangements work effectively. This responsibility is delegated to the Head 
of HR Services. 

 
3.11 Some of the responsibilities of the Scheme Manager are carried out by the 

Scheme Administrator on the Scheme Manager’s behalf. 
 
Local Pension Board: 
 
3.12 The Local Pension Board is responsible for assisting the Scheme Manager 

in securing compliance with scheme regulations, governance and 
administration legislation and any requirements of the Pensions Regulator. 

 
3.13 The Local Pension Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining a 

training and development policy and framework to address the legal 
requirement for board members to have sufficient knowledge and 
understanding to carry out their role. 

 
3.14 Members of the Local Pension Board are responsible for the appointment of 

a Chair to the board in accordance with the constitution of the Local 
Pension Board. 

 
3.15 Members of the Local Pension Board are responsible for declaring any 

potential conflict of interest arising as a result of their position on the board 
to the Chief Fire Officer. 

Page 20



 
 

 

 
3.16 Members of the Local Pension Board are responsible for participating in 

training and development as required to achieve sufficient knowledge and 
understanding to carry out their role. 

 
Employer 
 
3.17 The Employer is responsible for paying contributions into pension schemes 

and keeping and providing data to the Scheme Manager and / or the 
Scheme Administrator. This responsibility is delegated to the Head of 
Finance. 

 
3.18 The Employer is responsible for dealing with disputes. This responsibility is 

delegated to the Head of HR Services. 
 
3.19 The Employer is responsible for the administration of firefighter pensions. 

This activity is outsourced and responsibility for managing the contract is 
delegated to the Head of Finance. 

 
All Roles 
 
 
3.20 The Scheme Manager, members of the Local Pension Board, the Scheme 

Administrator and any Scheme Adviser are all responsible for reporting 
breaches of the law to the Pensions Regulator where that breach is likely to 
be of material significance. 

 
Reviewed May 2019 
Becky Smeathers 
Scheme Manager 

Page 21



 
 

 

 APPENDIX B 
 

LOCAL FIREFIGHTER PENSION BOARD OF NOTTINGHAMSHIRE AND CITY 
OF  

NOTTINGHAM FIRE AUTHORITY 
 

CONSTITUTION 
 
1. Statement of Purpose 
 
 The purpose of the Board is to assist Nottinghamshire and City of 

Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority (The Fire Authority) in its role as the 
Scheme Manager of the Fire Fighters Pension Schemes (1992, 2006, 2015 
and Retained Modified). Such assistance is to: 

 
a) secure compliance with the Scheme’s regulations, any other legislation 

relating to the governance and administration of the Scheme, and 
requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in relation to the 
Scheme. 
 

b) ensure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the 
Scheme. 

 
2. Duties of the Board 
 
 The Board should at all times act in a reasonable manner in the conduct of its 

purpose. In support of this duty Board Members: 
 

a) should act always in the interests of the Scheme and not seek to 
promote the interests of any stakeholder group above another.  

 
b) should be subject to and abide by Fire Authority’s Codes of Conduct for 

Members and Employees.  
 
3. Membership 
 
 The Board will comprise an equal number of employer and member 

representatives with a minimum requirement of no less than four in total. 
 
4. Scheme Member Representatives 

 
4.1. 2 Scheme Member representatives shall be appointed to the Board by the 2 

largest trades unions recognised by the Fire Authority who represent Scheme 
Members (i.e. FBU and FOA) but in default of any such appointments being 
made the Fire Authority shall invite expressions of interest from Scheme 
Members and appoint such Scheme Member representatives who it regards 
as best suited to the role of Board Member. 
 

4.2. Scheme Member representatives shall be current Scheme Members. 
 

4.3. Scheme Member representatives should be able to demonstrate their 
capacity to attend and complete the necessary preparation for meetings and 
participate in training as required.    

Page 22



 
 

 

 
5. Employer Representatives 

 
5.1. 2 Employer representatives shall be appointed to the Board by the Fire 

Authority. 
 

5.2. Employer representatives shall be 1 Fire Authority Member and 1 Principal 
Officer provided that neither Officer nor Members exercise delegated 
responsibility for discharging the Scheme Manager function of the Fire 
Authority. 
 

5.3. Employer representatives should be able to demonstrate their capacity to 
attend and complete the necessary preparation for meetings and participate 
in training as required.    
 

5.4. Employer representatives shall be appointed by the Fire Authority in a 
manner which it considers best promotes the purpose of the Board.  
 

6. Appointment of Chair 
 

6.1. The Board shall appoint its own chair for a period of 12 months rotating the 
appointment between scheme member representatives and employer 
representatives.   
 

6.2. The duties of the Chair should be in accordance with the duties of a 
committee chair under the Fire Authority’s Constitution. 
 

7. Substitute Board Members 
 
7.1. The Board may appoint one substitute Scheme Member Representative and 

one substitute Employer Representative. Substitute representatives can take 
part in Board meetings only in the place of an appointed representative of the 
same group who cannot attend a meeting. 

 
7.2. A substitute representative may attend, and participate in, any training events 

for Board members. 
 

7.3. A substitute representative may attend a Board meeting as an observer, if all 
representatives of the same group are attending that meeting. In this 
situation, the substitute representative must not participate in the business of 
the meeting.   

 
8. Notification of Appointments  

 
On appointment to the Board the Fire Authority shall publish the name of the 
appointees, the process followed in the appointment together with the way in 
which the appointments support the effective delivery of the purpose of the 
Board. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 
 

 

9. Conflicts of Interest 
 

9.1. All members of the Board must declare to the Chief Fire Officer on 
appointment and at any such time as their circumstances change any 
potential conflict of interest arising as a result of their position on the Board. 
 

9.2. On appointment to the Board and following any subsequent declaration of 
potential conflict the Chief Fire Officer shall ensure that any potential conflict 
is effectively managed in line with both the internal procedures of the Fire 
Authority and the requirements of the Pensions Regulators codes of practice 
on conflict of interest for Board members. 

 
10. Knowledge and understanding (including Training)  

 
10.1. Knowledge and understanding must be considered in light of the role of the 

Board to assist the Fire Authority in line with the requirements outlined in 
paragraph 2 above. The Board should establish and maintain a policy and 
framework to address the knowledge and understanding requirements that 
apply to Board Members. That policy and framework shall set out the degree 
of knowledge and understanding required as well as how knowledge and 
understanding is acquired, reviewed and updated.  
 

10.2. Board Members shall attend and participate in training arranged in order to 
meet and maintain the requirements set out in the Board's knowledge and 
understanding policy and framework.  
 

10.3. Board Members shall participate in such personal training needs analysis or 
other processes that are put in place in order to ensure that they maintain the 
required level of knowledge and understanding to carry out their role on the 
Board.  
 

11. Term of Office 
 

11.1. The term of office for Board Members shall be 2 Municipal Years and there 
shall be no restriction on reappointment at the expiry of a Board Member’s 
term. 
 

11.2. Board membership shall be terminated prior to the end of the term of office 
due to: 
 

a) A Scheme Member representative ceases to be a Scheme Member. 
 
b) An Employer representative ceases to be a Fire Authority Member. 
 

11.3. Board membership may be terminated prior to the end of the term of office by 
a resolution of the Fire Authority where the Board Member is no longer able 
to demonstrate their capacity to attend and prepare for meetings or to 
participate in required training.  
 

12. Meetings 
 

12.1. The Board shall as a minimum meet 3 times per year. 
 

Page 24



 
 

 

12.2. The Chair, with the consent of the other Board Members, may call additional 
meetings.  Urgent business of the Board between meetings may, in 
exceptional circumstances, be conducted via communications between 
members of the Board including telephone conferencing and e-mails. 

 
12.3. Meetings shall be open to the public and shall be conducted in accordance 

with the Fire Authority’s constitution as regards to the attendance of the 
public at meetings. Meetings will be advertised on the Service website at 
least one week prior to the date of the meeting with a link to the agenda, 
papers and minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
12.4. If there are any reports or papers containing confidential matters these will 

not be published. In this case the Board meeting will consist of part one for all 
non-confidential items, open to the public, and part two for all confidential 
items, closed to the public. Matters will be deemed confidential by reference 
to the personal data provisions of the Data Protection Act. 

 
13. Quorum 

 
A meeting is only quorate when 4 members are present, 2 scheme member 
representatives and 2 employer representatives. 
 

14. Voting 
 

14.1. The Board shall as far as possible make any decisions by consensus but 
where this proves not to be possible the Board may vote upon an issue. 
 

14.2. Each Board Member shall have 1 vote and in the event of an equality of 
votes the Chair shall have a casting vote. 
 

15. Support to the Board 
 

15.1. The Chief Fire Officer shall provide such support to the Board as it requires 
to discharge its functions. 
 

15.2. The Board may request information from the Chief Fire Officer with regard to 
any aspect of the Scheme Manager function. Any such a request should be 
reasonably complied with in both scope and timing.  
 

15.3. The Board may make recommendations to the Chief Fire Officer which 
should be considered and a response made to the Board on the outcome 
within a reasonable period of time. 

 
16. Relationship with Firefighters Pension Scheme Advisory Board 
 
16.1. The national Scheme Advisory Board has been established in accordance 

with the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 and its objectives include the 
provision of advice to Local Pension Boards in relation to the effective and 
efficient administration of the pension scheme. Communications from the 
Scheme Advisory Board are likely to be made via the Chair of the Local 
Pension Board who must ensure that the Fire Authority, as Scheme 
Manager, is kept informed of any new requirements. 

 

Page 25



 
 

 

OFFICIAL SENSITIVE 
SENSITIVE 

 
 
 

 
  

                                                           Report ref: 2019-03 
 

 
 

To:     The Chief Fire Officer 

 

Subject:     Governance Arrangement for the Fire Fighters’ Pension  

Date:             April 2019 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This audit examined the information governance arrangements for the Fire 
Fighters’ Pension. 
 

1.2 A Pensions Board has been established and its purpose is to assist 
Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority (The Fire 
Authority) in its role as the Scheme Manager of the Fire Fighters Pension 
Schemes (1992, 2006, 2015 and Retained Modified ). Such assistance is to: 

 

 secure compliance with the Scheme’s regulations, any other legislation 
relating to the governance and administration of the Scheme, and 
requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in relation to the Scheme. 

 ensure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the 
Scheme. 

 
The Board should at all times act in a reasonable manner in the conduct of its 
purpose. In support of this duty Board Members: 
 

 should act always in the interests of the Scheme and not seek to promote the 
interests of any stakeholder group above another.  

 should be subject to and abide by Fire Authority’s Codes of Conduct for 
Members and Employees.  

 
 
2 Audit opinion 

2.1 In the areas examined, we assessed the controls to determine to what extent the 
risks are being mitigated. 

2.2  

2.3 In our opinion the level of assurance we can provide is: - 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

SUBSTANTIAL ASSURANCE 

 
 
 
 
 

Risk levels are low 

Internal Audit Report 

 

Page 26



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
3 Risk areas examined 

3.1 During this audit we looked for controls to address the following key risks: - 

Risk title Description 

Communication to 
Members 

Adequate or accurate information may not be 
provided to members to allow them to make informed 
decisions concerning their pension. 
 

Internal Disputes 
Resolution 

Internal disputes may not be appropriately managed 
and may remain unresolved. 
 

Pension Law - 
Breaches 

Failure to understand latest reforms concerning the 

governance and administration of public service 

schemes, may result in failure to comply with the law 

and address poor standards and non-compliance. 

Oversight  Adequate oversight of systems and procedures may 
not be in place or scrutinised. 
 

Member Training  The Pensions Board and Fire Service staff may not be 
adequately trained and have the capacity to challenge 
effectively. 
 

Pension Board 
Meetings 

The Pensions Board business cycle may not achieve 
comprehensive oversight of activity and issues arising. 
 

  
3.2 The scale of the area reviewed is: - 

Metric June 2018 
actual 

Active pensioners 663 

Dependants 399 

Deferred members 849 

Total 1,911 

 

4 Audit findings 

4.1 Following our work, and with reference to the other sources of independent 
assurance that were available, we consider the controls to be effective in the 
following risk areas: - 

   Oversight - Provider cyber-security and GDPR compliance - The 2019 
pension administration contract with Leicestershire County Council requires 
the provider to inform NFRS of any incident giving rise to an actual, 
suspected or potential loss of personal data. Cyber security surrounding 
data transmission between NFRS and the provider have been assessed by 
both parties. 
 

   Pension Board Member Training - Board members are encouraged to follow 
a structured e-learning training tool-kit provided by the Pensions Regulator. 
They also receive a cyclical programme of training at the conclusion of 
Pension Board meetings. 

Page 27



 
 

 

 

   Pensions Board Meetings - The Risk Register is updated on an ongoing 
basis and reviewed at each meeting of the Pension Board. 
 

4.2 There were some control weaknesses and failures to comply with the standard 
controls, resulting in remaining risks. The attached Action Plan sets out these 
weaknesses, and our recommendations to address them.  

4.3 A summary of the recommendations made, together with brief details of the 
related findings, is set out below: - 

Priority level 
Number of 

Recommendations 
Recommended action 

timescales 

Priority 1 0 Immediate 

Priority 2 3 Within two months 
  

Priority 2 areas: 

 Governance arrangements are good. However, the role and terms of 
reference of the Responsible Officer in supporting the Pension Board should 
be formalised and kept under review in response to the potential creation of a 
joint Pension Board with Leicestershire and Derbyshire. 

 

 Contract management meetings are not formally recorded. 
 

 The Pension Board does not currently have the opportunity to be informed of 
the completed NFRS response to the Pension Regulator's Annual Public 
Service Governance and Administration survey. 

 
 
 4.4      No advisory actions were discussed during the audit. 

 
Audit conducted by: Ian Munro 

Senior Auditor 

Audit supervised by: Angela Wendels 

Senior Auditor 
 
Rob Disney, Group Manager Assurance 

 
 

Page 28



 
 

 

 
 

Audit Finding Recommendation Management Response 

Priority 2 areas (Highly desirable for effective internal control, should implement recommendations to improve existing control arrangements) 

1. Pension Board Responsible Officer terms of 
reference 

The Constitution of the Board defines the role of members. 
There is however, no corresponding definition of the role and 
responsibilities of the Scheme Manager. The Scheme Manager 
plays an active and pivotal role in ensuring that members receive 
technical and professional guidance and training to adequately 
discharge their responsibilities.  
The probable creation of a Joint Firefighters Pension Board with 
Leicestershire and Derbyshire and the need for clarity as to 
respective governance arrangements increases the need for the 
Scheme Manager’s role to be clearly defined. 

 

Risk: The Board is unsighted on issues and receives variable 

support. 

 

 
a)  That the role of the Scheme Manager 

is formalised by the Fire Authority. 
 
b) That the annual report from the 

Pension Board to the Fire Authority 
covers both the activity of the Pension 
Board and also the Scheme Manager. 

 

 

Response  

Accepted.  This will be incorporated in the 
next report to Fire Authority. 

 

Date for implementation 

July 2019 

 

Officer responsible for implementation 

Scheme Manager 

 

P
age 29



 
 

 

Audit Finding Recommendation Management Response 

2. Contract management 

Pensions administration is undertaken by a contract provider; 
Leicestershire County Council. We have not had sight of the 
contract that pre-dates the current contract which came into 
effect on 1/1/2019.  The provider attends meetings of the 
Pension Board to receive questions and deliver technical advice 
if required. Contract management meetings are informal and not 
supported by minutes. An annual evaluation of contract 
performance is not presented to the Pension Board for 
assurance purposes. 

 

Risk: Contract non-compliance is not reported. 

 

 
a) Contract management meetings are 

recorded and agreed actions are 
minuted. 
 

b) An annual assessment of provider 
contract performance is reported to the 
Pension Board. 

 

 

Response  

Contract management will be added to 
the agenda for the Regional Pension 
Meetings where performance can be 
reviewed by all 3 regional Fire 
Authorities.  Minutes are taken at this 
meeting. 

 

Date for implementation 

June 2019 

 

Officer responsible for implementation 

Scheme Manager 

 

3. Pension Board Assurance 

Each year Fire Pension schemes are surveyed by The Pension 
Regulator and required to complete a Public Sector Governance 
and Administration Survey. The Pensions Board does not have 
sight of the completed response from NFRS. 

 

Risk: The Pension Board is unaware of potential issues 

identified. 

 

 
The Pension Board should receive the 
completed survey at the earliest opportunity. 

 

 

Response  

Learning opportunities from the 2018 
survey will be reported to the Pension 
Board when results are published. NFRS 
completed response will be completed 
from the 2019 return. 

 

Date for implementation 

October 19 Board for response to 2018 
survey 

March 2020 for completed 2019 survey. 

 

Officer responsible for implementation 

Scheme Manager 

 

 

P
age 30



 
 
 

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
Policy and Strategy Committee 

 

COLLABORATION UPDATE 
 

Report of the Chief Fire Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Date: 12 July 2019 
  
Purpose of Report: 
 
To update Members on the progress of collaboration activities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER 

 

Name :  
Craig Parkin 
Deputy Chief Fire Officer 

Tel : 0115 8388100 

Email : craig.parkin@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 
Media Enquiries 
Contact : 

Therese Easom 
(0115) 967 0880  therese.easom@notts-fire.gov.uk 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6

mailto:therese.easom@notts-fire.gov.uk


1. BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 In September 2018, Members of the Fire Authority approved the Service’s 

Collaboration Strategy, which set out the Service’s intention to collaborate, 
where appropriate, with its partner agencies, primarily emergency services, in 
the interests of efficiency, effectiveness or improving community outcomes.  
 

1.2 Members will also be aware that collaboration forms an integral part of the 
Sustainability 2020 Strategy that aims to assist the Authority to meet its future 
financial challenges and is integral to the current Strategic Plan 2019-22. 

 
1.3 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 places a statutory duty on Police, Fire and 

Ambulance Services to consider collaboration to deliver efficiency, 
effectiveness and/or better outcomes for communities.  

  
1.4 The National Framework Document also refers to the statutory duty placed 

on fire and rescue authorities under the Policing and Crime Act 2017, but 
expands the expectation to collaborate with other fire and rescue authorities 
to deliver interoperability. 

 

1.5 An assessment of collaboration activities was included as part of the 
inspection carried out by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire 
and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) earlier this year. 

 

2. REPORT 

 
2.1 Since the launch of the Collaboration Strategy in 2017, a number of 

collaboration workstreams have been established and these continue to grow 
in both effectiveness and scope.  
 

2.2 The governance structure in place between the Service and Nottinghamshire 
Police is now well-established and working well, with both the Delivery Board 
and the Strategic Board meeting on a regular basis. The Boards monitor 
progress of each of the collaboration workstreams and give direction to the 
theme leads. 
 

2.3 The relationship between Nottinghamshire Police and the Service continues 
to grow in strength at all levels of the two organisations; this has contributed 
to progress made in all five of the initial collaboration workstreams identified 
with Nottinghamshire Police: Shared Estates, Learning and Development, 
Organisational Performance, Prevention and Emergency Planning.  
 

2.4 Work is also under way on a tri-service response hub in Hucknall; an update 
on this is included in this report. 
 

2.5 Joint Fire Control with Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service went live on 1 
July 2019 and an outturn report will be presented to the Fire Authority on this 
topic in September. 

  

Page 32



2.6 Shared Estates – the Authority gave its approval in September 2018 for the 
development of a detailed business case for a Joint Police and Fire 
Headquarters at the existing Sherwood Lodge site. This has now been 
approved and work is under way to a specific programme, with staff expected 
to move onto the redeveloped site in Autumn 2021.  

 
2.7 A Joint Headquarters (JHQ) Programme Board has been established, and 

the project leads and deputies identified for each of the projects that form the 
JHQ programme. These are the redevelopment of the JHQ, legal and 
governance, finance, people, estates development, and ICT.  

 
2.8 Legal advice has been sought to establish the legal and governance 

framework, finances and taxation impacts continue to be closely monitored, 
and risk critical information relating to such things as ICT and utilities are 
being considered.  

 
2.9 Work has been ongoing on the design of the new building which will form part 

of the new JHQ, and attention paid to the design and capacity of shared 
areas such as office accommodation, car parking, the canteen and recreation 
areas. A planning application has been submitted to Gedling Borough 
Council for the redevelopment of the site.  
 

2.10 Staff communication and engagement is key to the success of the JHQ 
Programme and a joint communications plan with Nottinghamshire Police is 
being developed. A joint employee event, Starting the Conversation, was 
held on 12 June 2019 and this was successful in bringing together staff from 
both organisations to share hopes, fears and ideas for future collaboration. 
 

2.11 Members will be updated on the JHQ Programme as it develops; regular 
updates are also taken to the Collaboration Delivery Board and Strategic 
Collaboration Board. 

 
2.12 A business case is currently being finalised for a shared Police and Fire 

Station in West Bridgford; this would see Nottinghamshire Police vacating 
their current police station in the town and moving to the fire station.  
 

2.13 A scoping exercise is being carried out into the provision of desk space and 
training facilities for members of Nottinghamshire Police’s driver training, 
personal safety and first aid training teams across the NFRS estate.  
 

2.14 These, and all opportunities for collaboration, will be submitted and approved 
through the Delivery Board and Strategic Board, and the Service’s own 
internal governance. 
 

2.15 Work has begun on the new tri-service hub in Hucknall, which will be shared 
by Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS), Nottinghamshire 
Police and East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS). The hub is at EMAS’s 
existing station in Annesley Road and work is expected to be completed next 
year.    
 

Page 33



2.16 Learning and Development – a business case is being developed for the 
joint procurement and delivery of leadership and management training for 
Nottinghamshire Police and NFRS. Joint coaching and mentoring 
programmes are also being explored.  

 
2.17 Organisational Performance – Corporate Support staff continue to engage 

with their counterparts at Nottinghamshire Police to learn from, and build on, 
their experiences regarding HMICFRS.  

 
2.18 Prevention – a joint cadets programme has been established by 

Nottinghamshire Police and the Service, and the initial eight-week course has 
taken place in the Hyson Green area of the city. The next cadet course is due 
to begin in September, and there are plans to roll this out to other areas in 
the future.  
 

2.19 Prevention leads from both Nottinghamshire Police and the Service are 
exploring the possibility of a joint Specialist Home Safety Team, which would 
visit vulnerable people at home to deliver fire safety and crime prevention 
advice. 
 

2.20 Work to deliver a joint schools education programme and joint road safety 
initiatives between the Police and NFRS is ongoing. 

    
2.21 Emergency Planning and Resilience – the jointly branded Police and Fire 

Welfare Unit is now in use by both organisations. The agreement is working 
well and the availability of this resource has been welcomed and appreciated 
by Police colleagues at operational incidents.  
 

2.22 The Service’s emergency planning lead officer continues to work closely with 
his counterparts in Nottinghamshire Police to share learning and intelligence, 
and improve resilience.  

 
2.23 A collaboration agreement is in place to allow Nottinghamshire Police to 

access bunkered fuel from some NFRS premises. Discussions are taking 
place to extend this to include access to jet washing facilities on fire stations 
for the Police. 
 

2.24 A joint Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (drone) has now been purchased and will be 
operated by Nottinghamshire Police on behalf of the two organisations. 
Nottinghamshire Police staff are currently being trained as pilots and the 
drone is expected to be operational by September 2019. 
 

2.25 Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service (DFRS) – the last 12 months have 
seen a focus on planning and implementing the new Joint Fire Control for 
Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire. The Area Manager Corporate Support 
continues to meet regularly with his counterpart in Derbyshire and will explore 
future opportunities for collaboration for consideration by the NFRS and 
DFRS Joint Strategic Board.  
 

2.26 South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service – initial meetings have taken 
place with colleagues in South Yorkshire and a number of opportunities are 

Page 34



being discussed, including joint e-learning packages and mutual support in 
the areas of Fire Protection and Fire Investigation.    

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 Members will be aware that in February 2016 the Authority approved the 

Sustainability Strategy 2020. This identified that collaboration would be one 
element contributing to the financial savings required by the Authority.  

 
3.2      Collaboration with key partner organisations has the potential to produce 

financial savings for the Authority, forming part of future business cases 
presented to the Authority for consideration, however, collaborative savings 
are often delivered more in the medium to long-term and should be factored 
into future financial planning. 

 

4. HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
IMPLICATIONS 

 
4.1 Collaboration within the Service is co-ordinated by the Area Manager 

Corporate Support and the Collaboration Project Support Officer.  
 
4.2 To ensure staff are well prepared for collaborative projects, additional training 

may be accessed. The Service will also continue to be active within regional 
and national collaboration networks, to ensure the Service remains 
connected and open to opportunities to collaborate with other emergency 
services and partner agencies.  

 

5. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken at this stage, these will 
form part of any future business cases that are proposed. 
 

6.      CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

 

Collaboration has the potential to expand NFRS’s ability to discharge its function 
under the Crime and Disorder Act, by exploring deeper opportunities to share 
information, deliver community services and improve outcomes. 
 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 NFRS has a statutory duty under the Policing and Crime Act 2017 to consider 

collaboration with other emergency services to improve efficiency and 
effectiveness, the Authority’s strategy assists in discharging its statutory 
duties.  

 

Page 35



7.2  The Local Government Act 1999 places a statutory duty on NFRS to ‘secure 
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised’. 
Collaboration has the potential to allow NFRS to secure improvements in the 
way that functions are delivered to communities 

 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 places a statutory duty to collaborate on the 

Authority. The Collaboration Strategy allows the Authority to demonstrate its 
commitment to consider collaboration with other emergency services 
therefore mitigating risk in this respect. 

 
8.2  Assessment of the Service’s collaboration activities forms part of the 

inspection by HMICFRS. The collaboration strategy allows the Authority to 
demonstrate its strategic intent to collaborate in the interests of efficiency, 
effectiveness and improving community outcomes. 

 
8.3 The National Framework Document places an expectation on the Service to 

be able to demonstrate that it has effective arrangements in place to consider 
collaborative opportunities with other emergency services 

  
8.4  The Service’s Strategic Plan (formerly Integrated Risk Management Plan) 

includes collaboration as a key area of work. Each area of the plan will be 
assessed for collaborative opportunities with identified partners. 

 

9. COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS 

 
This report provides Members with an update on collaboration work streams. 
 

10. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That Members note the contents of this report. 
 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED 
DOCUMENTS) 

 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
John Buckley  
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER 

Page 36



Document is Restricted

Page 37

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	4 SHAPING OUR FUTURE 'ORGANISATIONAL HEALTH' UPDATE 2019
	5 LOCAL FIREFIGHTER PENSION ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19
	6 COLLABORATION UPDATE
	8 EXEMPT MINUTES

